RECEIVED

Aug 19 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY
In the Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge
Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-06-00059
Appellate Case No. 2019-000599

Lorena Robinson, Elaine Nix, Archie Patterson,
and Tami Bollerman, Plaintiffs,

Of Whom Archie Patterson and Tami Bollerman are the Respondents,

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment and
Workforce Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT SOUTH CAROLINA
DEPARTMENT OF EMPLOYMENT AND WORKFORCE**

Vordman Carlisle Traywick, III (SC Bar 102123)
Robert E. Stepp (SC Bar 5335)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Did the circuit court err in holding DEW was required to promulgate regulations when provisos in the annual appropriations act specified the agency's responsibilities?
- II. Should the circuit court have dismissed the complaint because Respondents failed to exhaust the exclusive administrative remedies provided by statute?
- III. Did the circuit court err in certifying a class when Respondents failed to meet the prerequisites or establish standing and, in the alternative, by revoking its order requiring a claims-made process?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal arises out of Respondents Archie Patterson and Tami Bollerman’s challenge to the online work search requirement that the General Assembly directed the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce (DEW) to implement pursuant to a budget proviso in the general appropriations act from 2012 to 2016.

Unemployment Insurance Benefits in South Carolina

By way of background, in South Carolina, unemployment compensation benefits are paid to “persons unemployed through no fault of their own.” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-27-20. The right to receive unemployment benefits, however, is conditioned on DEW finding a claimant is “able to work and is available for work” in his usual employment—or other similar employment for which the claimant is qualified—and he is “actively seeking work.” S.C. Code Ann. § 41-35-110(3).

The claimant bears the burden of showing that he or she is available for work, able to work, and actively seeking work. See, e.g., Hyman v. S.C. Emp. Sec. Comm’n, 234 S.C. 369, 373, 108 S.E.2d 554, 556 (1959). And each week of unemployment constitutes a new claim period for which the claimant must meet his burden of showing compliance with the statutory requirements. (R. pp. 478–79). This need for a new showing every week renders the procedure for obtaining unemployment benefits substantially different from other entitlements, such as Social Security or permanent disability claims, where an initial showing permits the person to continue to receive the benefit indefinitely absent a change in circumstances.

Before 2012, DEW verified a claimant’s work searches by requiring the claimant to maintain a paper form (UCB-303) documenting four contacts with potential employers each week. (R. p. 479). The form required claimants to list details about each job search contact, including the date of the contact, the employer contacted, the type of work sought, the person contacted, and

the results of the contact. (Id.). If a claimant was eligible for benefits but still unemployed at the beginning of a new weekly claim period, he would renew the claim for a benefit on a weekly basis typically by phone or online. (Id.). When seeking to renew, the claimant was required to provide DEW a series of statements to the effect that, during the week in question, the claimant had not worked or received earnings and was able, available, and looking for work. (Id.).

At the time, it was impracticable for DEW to conduct a detailed review of each and every claimant's weekly efforts to comply with the statutory requirement to actively seek work. Nevertheless, DEW periodically verified claimants' weekly information. (Id.). When that occurred, randomly selected claimants were required to submit proof of work searches on the completed Form UCB-303. (Id.). DEW would then verify the information provided by the claimant on the form.¹ (R. p. 479). If DEW's review of the job search contact information revealed that a claimant submitted a verifiably false claim of a job search contact, DEW required repayment of the claim amount for the period in question. (Id.).

Because of the issues and inefficiencies described above, the General Assembly sought to improve the job search verification process. In 2012, the General Assembly—referencing subsection 41-35-110(3)—enacted the following proviso:

67.7 (DEW: SUTA Contingency Assessment Funds) Thirty percent of the funds appropriated through the contingency assessment funds collected on taxable wages paid by employers shall be spent on enforcement of Section 41-35-110(3) and Section 41-35-120(5) of the 1976 Code, via Eligibility Reviews, Random Verification of Job Contacts and Wage Cross Matches during those weeks covered by the South Carolina State Unemployment Tax Authority (SUTA),

¹ In practice, it was difficult for DEW to verify whether a claimant listed contacts the claimant never actually made. (R. p. 480). Potential employers were not and are not required to keep records of contacts by jobseekers. (Id.). And potential employers often could not remember whether a particular individual had contacted them about potential employment. (Id.). As a result, a claimant would not necessarily have to repay benefits from a past week merely because a listed employer job contact could not confirm that the claimant made contact with that employer during the period in question.

and to ensure seated meetings with Unemployment Insurance claimants and requiring that one of the four job search contacts required per week be conducted through SC Works Online System (SCWOS), so that it can be electronically verified. The agency must also inform claimants in advance that Eligibility Reviews and Random Verification of Job Contacts will be used by the Department to verify compliance with laws administered by the agency.

Act No. 288, 2012 S.C. Acts 448, § 67.7 (emphases added). Identical provisos were passed the next three budget cycles as well. See Act No. 101, 2013 S.C. Acts 475–76, § 83.6; Act No. 286, 2014 S.C. Acts 503, § 83.6; Act No. 91, 2015 S.C. Acts 484–85, § 83.5.

Following the General Assembly’s directions, and after an abundance of notice to claimants and potential claimants, DEW began implementing the proviso in August 2012, requiring claimants for unemployment compensation benefits to conduct at least one job search each week using DEW’s online work search website. (R. pp. 480–81). As before, claimants still had to document the other three job searches on the written form UCB-303. (R. p. 479). And the periodic interview process remained unchanged. (Id.).

The new job search verification process, however, led to a number of disqualifications due to claimants’ failure to perform the online work search for a given benefit week. (R. p. 481). That said, DEW often restored the previously denied benefits after only a minimal showing from the claimant. Some claimants, for instance, had their weekly benefits restored after advising DEW they were unaware of the online work search requirement—even though it was highly publicized—through the appeals process. See (R. pp. 481–82). Others had their benefits restored because of technical errors on their part or on DEW’s part. (R. p. 482). Even if a claimant’s benefit was not restored in the first stage of DEW’s review process, it was often restored at the next level.² (Id.).

² This statutorily required appeals process is not complicated and routinely used by laypersons. Indeed, DEW provides every claimant detailed instructions on how to navigate the appeals process. (R. p. 482).

All told, the proviso mandating DEW's enforcement of the online job search requirement was in effect from July 1, 2012 to June 30, 2016.

But the General Assembly changed course in 2016. When it proposed different language in Proviso 83.5 that year, Governor Nikki Haley vetoed the proviso with this message:

Since 2013, a proviso has required that at least one of the four required weekly job search contacts be conducted through the SC Works Online System (SCWOS), so that it can be electronically verified by the Department of Employment and Workforce. This anti-fraud provision helped provide an objective verification method of an unemployment beneficiary's job searches.

Unfortunately this year, the proviso was amended to remove the requirement that at least one job search be conducted online, now allowing individuals to perform job searches in any manner they choose. Because verification of these searches is extremely difficult, the effect of this amendment will be to make the job search process less accountable and more open to fraud.

Gov. Veto Messages, 2016–2017 Gen. Appropriations Act at 8–9 (June 8, 2016), https://www.scstatehouse.gov/sess121_2015-2016/appropriations2016/gmbvto16.pdf. And the House sustained the Governor's veto. See H.5001, 121st Gen. Assemb., 2d Reg. Sess., H.J. 67 (2016).

Beginning July 1, 2016, the proviso was no longer in effect. DEW then began the rulemaking process to establish requirements for online work searches. As a result, on May 26, 2017, the following regulation took effect:

47-104. Work Search.

A. Section 41-35-110(3) provides that a claimant is eligible to receive benefits with respect to a week only if the Department finds the claimant engaged in an active search for work. Absent good cause, an active search for work during a week must include at least two (2) job searches conducted through the South Carolina Works Online System (SCWOS), so that the search can be electronically verified.

B. The Department may waive the requirement to perform at least two (2) weekly job searches through SCWOS for good cause. Good

cause includes, but is not limited to, verifiable electronic access and/or language barriers, and is determined by the Department on a case by case basis.

S.C. Code Ann. Regs. § 47-104.

Procedural History

In the meantime, after Proviso 67.7 had been in effect for about six months, Respondents Archie Patterson and Tami Bollerman, among others, filed a putative class action in the Court of Common Pleas for Bamberg County challenging the online work search requirement. (R. p. 164). The original plaintiffs³ alleged DEW wrongfully denied them one or more weeks of unemployment benefits stemming from its implementation of the new method for verifying job searches online. (R. p. 168). At an early stage in the case, the Honorable Doyet A. Early, III designated the case as complex and referred it to himself for management and disposition. (R. p. 114).

After learning of the proviso under which DEW implemented the online job search requirement, see (Supp. R. p. 12), Respondents nevertheless continued to argue the requirement was invalid because DEW did not promulgate a regulation. Because the proviso foiled Respondents' claims, DEW moved for summary judgment. (R. pp. 573–90). Following submissions of briefs and arguments from the parties during a hearing, the circuit court summarily denied the motion. (R. pp. 573–90, 562–72 & 105).

Respondents then moved for leave to file an amended complaint. (Supp. R. p. 3). DEW consented as to the addition of new parties but opposed the inclusion of new allegations against the agency. Id. The circuit court entered an order granting Respondents leave to file an amended complaint. Id. Shortly thereafter, DEW filed an answer—and subsequently an amended answer—to Respondents' amended complaint. (R. pp. 122–38).

³ Lorena Robinson and Elaine Nix were initially plaintiffs, too, but are not Respondents on appeal. Other plaintiffs were added along the way, as well, but dropped off for various reasons. See, e.g., (R. p. 103).

Less than two months later, the parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment. (R. pp. 532–36). Respondents also moved to certify a class, and DEW opposed their motion. (R. pp. 591–93, 547–56). All parties filed memoranda in support of and in opposition to the pending motions. (R. pp. 522–31, 370–521, 349–66, 367–69, 329–41, 342–48 & 319–28). On May 5, 2016, the circuit court issued an order denying the cross-motions for summary judgment and an order certifying a class. (Supp. R. p. 6); (R. pp. 93–100). DEW timely moved to alter or amend both judgments under Rule 59(e), SCRCP. (R. pp. 312–18).

At the unopposed request of DEW, the circuit court scheduled an evidentiary hearing to determine whether the individual plaintiffs had standing to maintain this action. (R. pp. 311, 83). After two hearings, the circuit court issued an order finding the plaintiffs had individual standing, as well as standing under the public importance exception, and concluding they had “standing on the basis of suffering harm tha[t] is capable of repetition but evading review.” (R. pp. 83–90). DEW filed another motion to alter or amend judgment. (R. pp. 284–303). On October 30, 2017, the circuit court issued an order denying both of DEW’s Rule 59(e) motions. (R. pp. 78–80). DEW attempted to appeal these orders, but a court of appeals judge dismissed the appeal, finding class certification orders are not immediately appealable. (R. pp. 118–19). A three-judge panel of the court of appeals denied DEW’s petition for rehearing on that decision, and our supreme court later denied the petition for a writ of certiorari. (R. pp. 117, 120).

On September 24, 2018, the parties appeared for a status conference at which they agreed the matter was ready for a final merits hearing to resolve all issues. (R. pp. 74–77). Prior to the merits hearing, Respondents submitted a proposed class notice that DEW opposed. (R. p. 273–83, 263–72). Ultimately, the circuit court issued a final order on February 15, 2019, entering judgment in favor of Respondents and approving their proposed class notice. (R. pp. 24–73).

Five days later, however, Respondents moved to alter or amend judgment. (R. pp. 242–47). DEW did the same the next day and supplemented its motion on February 25, 2019. (R. pp. 206–41, 204–05). For their part, Respondents took issue with the circuit court’s decision—in relevant part—to have the class action proceed on a claims-made basis. (R. pp. 242–47). DEW, of course, contested the circuit court’s rulings on the merits, most of which are the subject of this appeal. (R. pp. 198–204). The circuit court denied both parties’ motions but took the class administration issue under advisement. (R. pp. 22–23). On March 21, 2019, the court granted Respondents’ motion, in part, absolving class members of their burden of proving entitlement to benefits. (R. pp. 5–21). DEW therefore filed another motion to alter or amend judgment as well as an amended motion. (R. pp. 188–97).

Meanwhile, on April 4, 2019, DEW filed a notice of appeal from six orders of the circuit court. On April 11, 2019, Respondents filed a cross-appeal.⁴ The court of appeals subsequently granted DEW’s motion to hold the appeal in abeyance and partially remanded the case back to the circuit court to issue a ruling on the outstanding Rule 59(e) motion. Because the presiding judge had since retired, the chief judge for administrative purposes heard the motion. (R. pp. 2–4). The circuit court then issued an order approving a partial stipulation regarding the definition of the class and otherwise denying the motion. (*Id.*). DEW amended its notice of appeal to include the July 22, 2020 order, bringing the total number of orders on appeal to seven. This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

While this case has a long and circuitous procedural history, the issues are straightforward. The Court should reverse and remand with instructions to dismiss the amended complaint for three reasons. First, given the presence of an unambiguous budget proviso, DEW was not required to

⁴ On January 13, 2021, Respondents narrowed the issues in the case by withdrawing their cross-appeal.

promulgate regulations. Second, Respondents failed to exhaust their exclusive administrative remedies provided by statute. And third, Respondents failed to meet the prerequisites for class certification. Even if class relief were appropriate, reversal is still required because the circuit court erred in recanting its order directing the class to proceed on a claims-made basis.

I. DEW was not required to promulgate regulations when a budget proviso specified the agency's responsibilities.

The circuit court's declaratory judgment on the thrust of the budget proviso is incorrect as a matter of law. In the face of an unambiguous mandate from the General Assembly, DEW was required to implement the online work search requirement. And DEW did not need to promulgate regulations to do so.

A. The Court's standard of review is de novo.

"A suit for declaratory judgment is neither legal nor equitable, but is determined by the nature of the underlying issue." Felts v. Richland Cty., 303 S.C. 354, 356, 400 S.E.2d 781, 782 (1991). "The issue of interpretation of a statute is a question of law for the court." Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007). An appellate court "reviews questions of law de novo." Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 110, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008). "In a case raising a novel question regarding the interpretation of a statute, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court." N.Y. Times Co. v. Spartanburg Cty. Sch. Dist. No. 7, 374 S.C. 307, 310, 649 S.E.2d 28, 29 (2007).

B. A review of the proviso unambiguously reveals that enforcing the online work search requirement meant denying benefits for failure to comply.

"The General Assembly must provide annually for all expenditures in a general appropriations act . . . to fund the ordinary expenses of state government and to direct the

expenditure of these funds.” Amisub of S.C., Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control, 407 S.C. 583, 592, 757 S.E.2d 408, 413 (2014). As part of the General Assembly’s “duty and authority to appropriate money as necessary for the operation of the agencies of government,” it “has the right to specify the conditions under which the appropriated monies shall be spent.” Edwards v. State, 383 S.C. 82, 90, 678 S.E.2d 412, 416 (2009). “Executive agencies are required to comply with the General Assembly’s enactment of a law until it has been otherwise declared invalid.” Id. at 91, 678 S.E.2d at 417.

“As a creature of statutes, regulatory bodies . . . have only the authority granted them by the [General Assembly].” Responsible Econ. Dev. v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control, 371 S.C. 547, 553, 641 S.E.2d 425, 428 (2007). In other words, the “regulatory body is possessed of only those powers expressly conferred or necessarily implied for it to effectively fulfill the duties with which it is charged.” Captain’s Quarters Motor Inn, Inc. v. S.C. Coastal Council, 306 S.C. 488, 490, 413 S.E.2d 13, 14 (1991). “Of course, where the General Assembly hits the proverbial bulls-eye and assigns enforcement of a statute to an administrative agency with the command of ‘shall,’ then the agency shall act accordingly, free from the duplicative effort of formally promulgating a regulation.” Joseph v. S.C. Dep’t of Lab., Licensing & Regul., 417 S.C. 436, 465, 790 S.E.2d 763, 778 (2016) (Kittredge, J., concurring).

After all, “[u]nder the rules of statutory interpretation, use of words such as ‘shall’ or ‘must’ indicates the [General Assembly]’s intent to enact a mandatory requirement.” Collins v. Doe, 352 S.C. 462, 470, 574 S.E.2d 739, 743 (2002); cf. State v. Hill, 314 S.C. 330, 332, 444 S.E.2d 255, 256 (1994) (“The word ‘may’ ordinarily ‘signifies permission and generally means the action spoken of is optional or discretionary.’” (quoting Robertson v. State, 276 S.C. 356, 358, 278 S.E.2d 770, 771 (1981))). Here, the Court is called upon to interpret a budget proviso in the annual

appropriations act.⁵ “The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and effectuate the intent of the [General Assembly].” Hodges v. Rainey, 341 S.C. 79, 85, 533 S.E.2d 578, 581 (2000). “If a statute’s language is plain and unambiguous and conveys a clear and definite meaning, there is no occasion for employing rules of statutory interpretation and the court has no right to look for or impose another meaning.” Miller v. Doe, 312 S.C. 444, 447, 441 S.E.2d 319, 321 (1994).

“In interpreting a statute, the language of the statute must be read in a sense that harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.” Town of Mt. Pleasant v. Roberts, 393 S.C. 332, 342, 713 S.E.2d 278, 283 (2011). “It is well settled that statutes dealing with the same subject matter are in para materia and must be construed together, if possible, to produce a single, harmonious result.” Joiner ex rel. Rivas v. Rivas, 342 S.C. 102, 109, 536 S.E.2d 372, 375 (2000); see also Senate ex rel. Leatherman v. McMaster, 425 S.C. 315, 322, 821 S.E.2d 908, 912 (2018) (recognizing the Court “must read the statute so ‘that no word, clause, sentence, provision or part shall be rendered surplusage, or superfluous’” (quoting CFRE, LLC v. Greenville Cty. Assessor, 395 S.C. 67, 74, 716 S.E.2d 877, 881 (2011))).

Further, when “one statute address[es] an issue in general terms and another statute deal[s] with the identical issue in a more specific and definite manner, the more specific statute will be considered an exception to, or a qualifier of, the general statute and given such effect.” Denman v. City of Columbia, 387 S.C. 131, 138, 691 S.E.2d 465, 468–69 (2010) (quoting Spectre, LLC v. S.C. Dep’t of Health & Env’t Control, 386 S.C. 357, 372, 688 S.E.2d 844, 852 (2010)).

Against this backdrop, the Court must determine the reach of the proviso directing DEW to enforce an online work search requirement for claimants seeking to prove entitlement to

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