**RECEIVED**

**Aug 30 2021**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM BARNWELL COUNTY  
In the Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge  
Clifton B. Newman, Circuit Court Judge

---

Lower Court Case No. 2013-CP-06-0059  
Appellate Case No. 2019-000599

---

Lorenda Robinson, Elaine Nix, Archie Patterson,  
And Tami Bollerman, ..... Plaintiffs,

Of Whom, Archie Patterson and Tami Bollerman are the Respondents, [REDACTED]

v.

South Carolina Department of Employment and  
Workforce, ..... Appellant [REDACTED]

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS ARCHIE PATTERSON  
AND TAMI BOLLERMAN

---

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

<sup>9</sup> The department has taken inconsistent positions regarding the meaning of the Proviso. In its response to the LAC’s management report that it had failed to promulgate regulations regarding the online work search requirement, the department claimed the proviso was a directive of the General Assembly, Yet, in response to the LAC’s finding that the department had wrongly suspended eligibility reviews - which were funded by the same proviso - the department indicated it was part of a “laundry list of exemplary integrity initiatives.”(Supp. R. pp. 268-269) As noted by the trial court, the proviso cannot be a directive for one of the listed items and a suggestion for another. (R. p. 39)

establish policies and procedures to implement and enforce compliance with the requirement.

**E. Before Enactment of Budget Proviso 67.7, the Department Implemented Policies Establishing the Online Work Search Requirement and Procedures for its Enforcement**

To implement and enforce the online work search requirement, it was necessary for the department to establish policies and procedures. These policies and procedures are set forth in the Second affidavit of Kevin Cummings, as well as the exhibits in the affidavit, and department's Procedural Transmittal Letter, Number 1267-3. According to this letter: "In March of 2012 [the department's] work search policy was revised to require all claimants to make a minimum of four (4) job contacts per week. At least one (1) of the contacts must be made via SC Works Online Services...and all job contacts must be documented on the Form 303, Record of Work Seeking Activities." (Supp. R. p. 38) This policy implementing procedures for the online work search requirement was adopted by the department three months before enactment of the 2012-2013 Appropriations Act and Budget Proviso 67.7.

The department also established procedures for enforcement of this policy. If the claimant failed to make an online search on the SCWOS system, the department mailed the WORK SEARCH VERIFICATION FAILURE – BENEFITS STOPPED notice to them. This notice is set forth above on Page 3. Both class representatives and all class members were mailed this letter, as well as all class members. (Supp. R. p. 25; Supp. R. p. 310, line 6 – p. 318, line 4; Supp. R. p. 38) While the notice instructs the claimant to appear if he/she wishes to receive future benefits, the purpose of appearance is to conduct a determination hearing-after the fact- to stop benefits. (id) It does not notify the claimant that a statement will be taken, that a hearing will be conducted or the true purpose of reporting to the department's office. After the hearing,

class members were issued a determination letter stating that benefits were stopped for failing to conduct an online work search. As discussed below, these procedures were binding on the department.

**F. The Policies and Procedures Established to Enforce the Online Work Search Requirement Constituted a Binding Norm and Violated Art. I, §22 of the Constitution and S.C. Code Ann. §41-35-670.**

A policy or guideline has the force of law if it creates a binding norm. *Joseph v. South Carolina Dept. of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation*, 417 S.C. 436, 453, 790 S.E. 2d 763, 772 (2016). The key inquiry is:

the extent to which the challenged policy leaves the agency free to exercise its discretion to follow or not to follow that general policy in an individual case, or on the other hand, whether the policy so fills out the statutory scheme that upon application one need only determine whether a given case is within the rule's criterion. As long as the agency remains free to consider the individual facts in the various cases that arise, then the agency action in question has not established a binding norm. *Id.* 417 S.C. 454, 790 S.E. 772.

The department's policy of requiring online work searches is a mandatory requirement for all unemployment claimants as are its procedures for enforcement of the policy. The department consistently refers to the policy as a requirement and denies benefits if its computer system detects a claimant did not make the search. In fact, Procedure Transmittal Letter 1267-3 states: "Warnings are NOT acceptable for SCWOS searches." (Supp. R. p. 38). Since the department bound itself to follow this policy, it has the force of law and constitutes an invalid regulation.

As a creature of statutes, an agency of the state only has the powers conferred upon it by the legislature. If regulations are mandated, the agency must promulgate regulations to carry out its duties. *Captains Quarters Motor Inn Inc. v. South Carolina Coastal Council* 306 S.C. 488,

490, 413 S.E.2d 13, 14 (S.C. 1991). Any action taken by [the agency] outside of its statutory and regulatory authority is null and void. Responsible Economic Development v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, 371 S.C. 547, 553, 641 S.E. 425, 428 (2007), citing Triska v. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control, 292 S.C. 190, 194, 355 S.E.2d 531, 533 (1987). See also Captains Quarters above, and Charleston Television, Inc. v. South Carolina Budget and Control Bd., 301 S.C. 468, 392 S.E.2d 671 (1990) (failure to promulgate regulations for competitive bidding as mandated by statute rendered agency's lease approval invalid).

The department failed to promulgate regulations regarding the online work search requirement and, therefore, was without authority to implement and enforce it. Moreover, the procedure the department used to notify and adjudicate class members claims for failing to conduct an online search was not by a mode of procedure prescribed by the General Assembly as required by Article I, Section 22 of the S.C. Constitution.<sup>10</sup> In fact, the department admitted the adjudication process used by claims adjudicators had been established by department guidelines, not by regulation. (Supp. R. p. 313, line 10 – p. 314, line 16) The failure to promulgate rules regulating the procedure for administrative hearings violates Article I, Section 22. McIntyre v Securities Commissioner of South Carolina, 425 S.C. 439, 446, 823 S.E.2d 193, 196 (Ct. App. 2018) Further, the department's procedure of stopping payment before a determination was made violated S.C. Code Ann. §41-35-670 (requiring a redetermination or subsequent determination before payments are stopped).<sup>11</sup> The General Assembly could not have intended this result. Moreover, construing the Proviso to suspend the department's duty to promulgate

---

<sup>10</sup> A regulation promulgated by an agency and approved by the General Assembly would satisfy the requirements of Art. 1, §22.

<sup>11</sup> On page 13 of the February 15, 2019 Order, (R. 36) the trial court found the department's procedures violated S.C. Const. Art I, Section 22 and S.C. Code 41-35-670. These findings have not been appealed.

regulations in violation of this constitutional provision could not have been the intent of the General Assembly.<sup>12</sup>

## **2. RESPONDENTS WERE NOT REQUIRED TO EXHAUST ADMINISTRATIVE REMEDIES AND THE COURT HAD SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION**

### **A. Standard of Review**

The doctrine of exhaustion of administrative remedies is generally considered a rule of policy and discretion, rather than one of law. *Stinney v. Sumter School District 17*, 382 S.C. 52, 358, 675 S.E.2d 760, 763 (2009), citing *Adamson v. Richland County School District One*, 332 S.C.121, 125, 503 S.E.2d 752, 754 (Ct. App. 1998). The doctrine is not jurisdictional. *Id.* Whether administrative remedies must be exhausted is a matter within the trial court's sound discretion and its decision will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion. *Id.*, citing *Hyde v. S.C. Dept. of Mental Health*, 314 S.C. 207, 208, 442 S.E.2d 582, 582–83 (1994).

Although not set forth in its Statement of Issues, the department asserts the court does not have subject matter jurisdiction to adjudicate this case. Nevertheless, the court may consider the issue of subject matter jurisdiction at any time *State v. Gentry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005). While the “failure to exhaust administrative remedies goes to the prematurity of a case, subject matter jurisdiction refers to a court's power to adjudicate a case. *Wardlaw v. South Carolina Dept. Social Services*, 427 S.C. 197, 829 S.E.2d 718 (Ct. App. 2019) The issue of

---

<sup>12</sup> In 2016, the department finally promulgated S.C. Code Ann. Reg. §47-104 establishing the online work search requirement. The regulation is sparse and mirrors the language of the Budget Proviso. While it does allow the department to waive the online requirement, it still does not provide a mode of procedure to enforce the requirement. Moreover, the department has yet to promulgate any regulation establishing procedures for its claims adjudication process. The class period ends July 1, 2016. This case does not involve the adequacy of the 2016 regulation, nor the department's procedures after enactment of the regulation and those issues are not before this Court.

subject matter jurisdiction is a matter of law, *id.*

**B. The Record Supports the Trial Court’s Decision that Respondents were not required to Exhaust Administrative Remedies Before filing this Action.**

When exhaustion of remedies is statutorily mandated, the exceptions to exhaustion are few, and legislative intent prevails. *Ward v. State*, 343 S.C. 14, 18, 538 S.E.2d 245, 247 (2000). Since the legislature would not require a futile act, a generally recognized exception to the requirement of exhaustion of administrative remedies exists when a party demonstrates that pursuit of them would be a vain or futile act.” *Id* 343 S.C. at 19, 538 S.E.2d at 247. “Futility... must be demonstrated by a showing comparable to the administrative body taking a hard and fast position that makes an adverse ruling a certainty.” *Brown v. James*, 389 S.C. 41, 54, 697 S.E. 604, 611(Ct. App. 2010)

Moreover,” ...[a] party is not required to exhaust administrative remedies if the issue is one that cannot be ruled upon by the administrative body.” *Charleston Trident Home Builders, Inc. v. Town Council of Summerville*, 369, S.C. 498, 502, 632 S.E.2d 864, 867 (2006). In such an instance, exhausting remedies would be futile.

Romi Robinson serves as the department’s Chief Administrative Hearing Officer and presides over the Lower Authority Appeals Department which hears appeals from the claims adjudicator level. Ms. Robinson testified that the department’s appeals process would not have addressed the legal issue in this case – whether it was required to promulgate regulations prior to implementing its online work search requirement. Ms. Robinson testified that the department’s Appellate Panel only has the power to resolve factual disputes. It would not resolve issues of law pertaining to the authority of the department to implement the online work search requirement without first promulgating regulations. (R. p. 926, lines 16-25; Supp. R. p. 86, line 13 – p. 87,

line 22) Therefore, appealing to the Appellate Panel would not have afforded the Respondents a remedy and would have been futile.

In addition, the legislature would not require exhaustion of administrative remedies when an agency is acting outside of its authority. “As a creature of statutes, regulatory bodies ... have only the authority granted them by the legislature.... Any action taken ... outside of its statutory and regulatory authority is null and void.” Responsible Economic Development v. South Carolina Department of Health and Environmental Control, 371 S.C. 547, 553, 641 S.E.2d 425, 428 (2007) (internal citations omitted). In such an instance, an exception would exist to any statutorily mandated requirement to exhaust administrative remedies, since the conduct complained of would be beyond the administrative agency’s authority. Brown v. James 389 S.C. 41, 55, 697 S.E.2d 604, 612 (2010) (“Another exception to the exhaustion requirement is recognized when an agency has acted outside of its authority”). The issue of whether an agency is acting outside the scope of its authority is a matter of law and excuses any failure to first seek administrative remedies. Ex parte Allstate Ins. Co., 248 S.C. 550, 568, 151 S.E.2d 849, 855 (1966). The department was without authority to implement the online work search requirement without first promulgating regulations, since it is statutorily mandated to do so. See Captain’s Quarters, supra. Respondents are therefore not required to exhaust administrative remedies.

### **C. The Court has the Authority to Hear this Case.**

"A court's subject matter jurisdiction is determined by whether it has the authority to hear the type of case in question." Baddourah v. McMaster, Op. No. 28013(S. Ct. 2021) “It is emphatically the province and duty of the judicial department to say what the law is.” Marbury v. Madison, 5 U.S. 137, 177, 1 Cranch 137, 2 L.Ed. 60 (1803)

“South Carolina trial courts are vested with general original jurisdiction in civil cases, except those cases in which exclusive jurisdiction shall be given to inferior courts. S.C. Const. art. V, § 11. In determining whether the Legislature has given another entity exclusive jurisdiction over a case, a court must look to the relevant statute.” Dema v. Tenant Physician Services – Hilton Head, Inc., 383 S.C.115, 120, 678 S.E.2d. 430, 433 (2009).

The department points to S.C. Code Ann. §41-35-690 which provides:

The procedure provided in this chapter for appeals from a determination or redetermination to the appeal tribunal and for appeals from the tribunal, first to the Department of Employment and Workforce Appellate Panel, as established by Section 41-29-300, and afterward to the administrative law court, pursuant to Section 41-29-300(C)(1), is the sole and exclusive appeal procedure.

However, as the circuit court found, this action was not an appeal from an initial determination, redetermination or subsequent determination. (R. pp. 42-43) Moreover, the statute does not say the procedure mentioned above is the sole and exclusive remedy as it has in other situations.

For example, S.C. Code Ann. §42-1-540 of the Worker’s Compensation Act provides: “[t]he rights and remedies granted by [the Worker’s Compensation Act] to an employee... shall exclude all other rights and remedies of such employee ... as against his employer, at common law or otherwise, on account of such injury, loss of service or death.” This section clearly and unequivocally provides worker’s compensation is the sole remedy against an employer for an employee’s injuries and illustrates the General Assembly knows how to limit remedies when they intend to do so. The language of §41-35-690 does not apply to all remedies and limits only the appeal process.

The Declaratory Judgment act provides: “[a]ny person...whose rights, status or other legal relations are affected by a statute...may have determined any question of construction or

validity arising under the...statute...and obtain a declaration of rights, status or other legal relations thereunder.” S.C. Code Ann. §15-53-30 The declaratory judgment Act is remedial and to be liberally construed and administered. S.C. Code Ann. §15-53-130. “The existence of another adequate remedy does not preclude a judgment for declaratory relief in cases where it is appropriate.” S.C.R.C.P. 57. “A justiciable controversy is a real and substantial controversy appropriate for judicial determination, as opposed to a dispute or difference of a contingent, hypothetical or abstract character.” South Carolina Public Interest Foundation v. South Carolina Department of Transportation, 421 S.C. 110, 120, 804 S.E.2d 854, 860 (2017)

Much more is at issue in this case than individual claims for benefits. The subject matter of this case is whether the department was required to promulgate regulations prior to implementing and establishing procedures for its online work search requirement. Declaratory relief is therefore appropriate and necessary in this case.

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